IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court No.: SC01-1316 Third DCA No.: 3D00-1012 L.T. CASE NO. 98-01648

JUDITH ROSE and CHARLES R. AULT, on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners.

v.

NORWEGIAN CRUISE LINES LIMITED d/b/a NORWEGIAN CRUISE LINES,

Defendant/Respondent.

On Review of a Decision by the Third District Court of Appeal

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS,

JUDITH ROSE and CHARLES R. AULT,

on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated

Respectfully submitted,

WILLIAM M. JULIEN
Florida Bar No.: 0003743
GROSSMAN & GOLDMAN, P.A.
Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Petitioners
1098 N. W. Boca Raton Boulevard
Boca Raton, FL 33432

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a class action on behalf of all paying passengers ("Class Members" or "Plaintiffs") who consumed water and/or food unfit for human consumption and were thus made ill on the Norwegian Cruse Lines Limited ("NCL") cruise ship M/S Royal Odyssey ("Royal Odyssey") during three consecutive voyages which departed from the Port of Miami, Dade County, Florida on March 4, 1997, March 14, 1997 and March 25, 1997. The Amended Complaint ("Complaint") alleges that due to actions and omissions of NCL, its agents, employees and/or operators, the Class Members were made ill. This resulted in symptoms such as vomiting, diarrhea and other physical ailments caused by the food and/or water served by NCL. (Pet. App. 35,36) The food and/or water was unfit for human consumption and believed to be contaminated with a Norwalk or Norwalk-like virus². (Pet. App. 35,36)

The class action was brought pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P., 1.220(a); 1.220(b)(1) and/or Rule 1.220(b)(3). The Complaint alleges that the members of the class are so numerous (approximately 700

^{1 (}Pet. App. 35) (References are to Petitioners' Appendix which accompanies this brief, or to the appendixes in the Third District Court below: NCL's Appendix to Appellants Initial Brief Containing Court Documents shall be referred as NCL A. CT.; NCL's Appendix to Appellants initial Brief Containing Transcripts shall be referred to as NCL A.TR.; Appendix to Appellees' Answer Brief shall be referred to as "PL.App.___".

² The Norwalk virus is know called a small round-structured virus (SRSV). (Pet.App. 4,16)

persons) that joinder of all members is impracticable (Pet.App. 37); that the claims of the named Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of each member of the Class (Pet.App. 37); that Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class (Pet.App. 37); that questions of law and fact exist that are common to the class (such as whether NCL impliedly warranted that its food and/or water was fit for human consumption, whether NCL breached its implied warranty of fitness, whether NCL was negligent in the serving of adulterated food products and/or water to members of the class, and whether this breach/negligence was a proximate cause of damage to members of the class); and that such common questions predominate over questions affecting individual Class Members (Pet.App. 38,39,40); and that a class action is the superior method of determining this case. (Pet.App. 37)

The trial court held off on ruling on Plaintiffs' Verified Motion for Class Certification ("Motion") (NCL A.Ct. 38) until NCL had the opportunity to obtain discovery and the trial court had the opportunity to review the relevant pleadings and evidentiary submissions to assure that the case met the requirements for class certification.³

³Filings with the trial court prior to its ruling on class certification included the following discovery answering questions related to the appropriateness of class certification: Affidavit of Dr. Parker filed by NCL on September 24, 1998 (NCL A. Ct. 121); Plaintiffs' Answers to Class Certification Interrogatories to Judith Rose served on July 1, 1999 (PL.App.70); Plaintiff's Answers to Class Certification

The trial court held three hearings on Plaintiffs' Motion and reviewed numerous pleadings, memorandums and evidence⁴. At the September 28, 1998 hearing on Plaintiffs' Motion, the trial court deferred ruling based on NCL's objection to Plaintiffs' prior cocounsel having a possible conflict with a named class member.

(NCL A. Ct. 106) Co-counsel, Grossman & Goldman, P.A., was thereafter substituted as counsel. (NCL A. Ct. 106)

On April 14, 1999, the trial court held another hearing on Plaintiffs' Motion, and again deferred ruling on class certification. This time, deferral was based primarily upon the fact that the now former named class representative, Norman Rose, might not have been an adequate representative, and due to the fact that the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida had provisionally certified as a class the passengers on the March 25, 1997 cruise in Pollack v. Norwegian Cruise Lines Ltd., Case Number 98-621-CIV-Lenard(S.D.Fla.)⁵. (A.PL.App. 40)

Interrogatories to Charles Ault served on October 19, 1999 (NCL A. Ct. 154); Deposition transcript of Judith Rose filed by NCL on July 7, 1999 (NCL A. Tr. 161); Deposition transcript of Charles Ault filed by NCL on January 13, 2000 (NCL A. Tr. 73); Affidavit of Plaintiffs' Counsel in Support of Class Certification (NCL A. Ct. 94); and, copy of certified copy of the CDC report filed at hearing on January 14, 2000. (Pet.App. 1)

⁴The only hearing in the trial court for which a court reporter was present was the final hearing on class certification held in January, 2000.

⁵The parties in the <u>Pollack</u> class action case subsequently filed an agreed motion to decertify the class as part of a settlement involving the individual Plaintiffs.(NCL's App. to

There was no order entered at the April 14, 1999 hearing. Charles Ault was substituted as a named class member on August 4, 1999. (PL.App. 24)On September 21, 1999, the trial court granted NCL's motion to continue Plaintiffs' hearing on class certification, ruling that Charles Ault's deposition was to take place at least two days prior to any hearing on the Motion and the deposition was later taken on October 22, 1999. (NCL A. Ct. 117,120) (PL. App. 69)

After numerous attempts to schedule the Motion <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Plaintiffs' Emergency Motion for Ruling on Class Certification (PL. App. 47), on January 14, 2000, the trial court finally held a hearing on the merits of Plaintiffs' Motion. (NCL A.T. 1) At the hearing, the trial court stated that it would not make a ruling until it reviewed, digested and understood NCL's Response and Memorandum in Opposition to Class Certification. (NCL A.T. 34,42) Part of the evidence submitted to and reviewed by the trial court are reports and documents from the United States Public Health Service, Department of Health and Human Services, the Center for Disease Control and Prevention ("CDC"). The reports confirm that Plaintiffs' claims are proper for class certification. (Pet. App. 1-23).

Reply Brief in the Third District)

As a result of passenger illness during the subject cruise periods, the CDC conducted an investigation into passenger illnesses on the Royal Odyssey. (Pet.App. 41) The CDC determined that 303 passengers (41%) and 85 crew members on the March 4 through March 14, 1997 voyage; at least 53 passengers and 28 crew members on the March 14 through 25 voyage; and 302 passengers (40%) and 52 crew on the March 25 through April 4 voyage, developed gastroenteritis (Pet.App. 4-7, 10, 12-15, 18, 19).

The CDC identified "a small round-structural virus (RSV) as a the cause of this outbreak" and concluded:

The outbreak of gastroenteritis which affected 31% of passengers and crew during the March 25-April 4 cruise of MS Royal Odyssey was probably caused by SRSVs. This was the last of three outbreaks of gastroenteritis occurring on three consecutive cruises and was the second epidemiologic investigation performed. We suspect that this was one continuous outbreak rather than three separate outbreaks based on the following evidence:

Epidemiologic Investigation: Two cohort 1) analysis of questionnaire data collected from passengers on the March 4-14 and March 25-April 4 cruises each found an increased risk of illness among those who reported drinking the ship's potable water. Unlike the analysis of the questionnaire data collected on the first cruise, though, this investigation failed to find either а dose-response relationship for tap water consumption or a

⁶ No questionnaires were filled out by passengers on the March 14 through March 25 cruise. Plaintiffs are claiming that approximately 40% (300) of the passengers would have become sick as approximately 40% became sick on the other two cruises. The 53 passengers identified were merely those who went to the ship's doctor. Most passengers did not report to the ship's doctor.

- decreased risk of illness among those who reported drinking only bottled water.
- 2) Environmental Investigation: A possible breach of the integrity of the potable water system was identified. Also, one potable water tank had no free chlorine residual which suggests that organic material had consumed the chlorine added to potable water at bunkering. Since there was no change made to the potable water system, any possible cross-connection and/or high organic burden could have persisted through the three affected cruises.
- 3) <u>Laboratory Investigation</u>: Identical RSV genomic sequences were determined in the RNA polymerase and capsid regions among ill passengers and crew of the March 25-April 4 cruise. These sequences were the same as those seen in the March 4-14 cruise. (Emphasis supplied.) (Pet.App. 7)

On April 4, 1997, the CDC issued a "Recommendation Not to Sail" and the Royal Odyssey was placed in wet dock. (Pet.App. 22) The CDC determined that the most likely cause and/or source of SRSVs was the drinking water on board the Royal Odyssey. (Pet.App. 4)

According to the CDC, passenger symptoms included gastroenteritis, diarrhea, vomiting, loose stools, abdominal cramps, headaches and muscle aches. (Pet.App. 4,5) The median duration of illness was several days. (Pet.App. 5) The CDC reports confirm that the CDC was notified of the outbreak of gastroenteritis on March 13, 1997, during the first cruise period for class members. (Pet.App. 4)

After each of the first two class cruise periods, the CDC recommended that: NCL sanitize handrails, door knobs and toilet areas with ammonia; change air filters and use only fresh (rather than re-circulated air conditioning); food handlers with gastroenteritis be excluded from duty; good hand washing practices be stressed to all crew members; potable water be tested for bacterial coliforms prior to bunkering (taking potable water on board); and that NCL continue to investigate sources of contamination for the outbreak (Pet.App. 4, 16).

The CDC confirmed that NCL ignored the CDC's recommendations:

Following the first outbreak and pursuant to recommendations made by CDC, ill crew with food preparation or service duties were to have been taken off duty for 48 hours following cessation of symptoms. Notwithstanding this recommendation, only 5 ill crew members reported to ship's doctor and were taken off duty while questionnaire data identified 16 ill crew who reported working in a food preparation or service capacity. (Pet.App. 7)

Plaintiffs' Complaint and Motion contain numerous factual, specific allegations as to NCL's negligence causing the outbreak of gastroenteritis affecting Class Members with illnesses such as vomiting and diarrhea. See, Paragraphs 1, 6, 9, 14 and 15 of Plaintiffs' Complaint (Pet.App. 35-43) and Plaintiffs' Motion. (NCL A. Ct. 38). Moreover, the transcript of the January 14, 2000

⁷ The current Complaint states counts for breach of warranty and negligence. Counts for res ipsa loquitur and negligent infliction of emotional distress were stricken. (PL.App. 83)

hearing on class certification confirms that the trial court had carefully considered the class action requirements and that Plaintiffs had met them. (NCL A. Tr. 1-211)

On March 21, 2000, the trial court entered its Order Granting Plaintiff's Verified Motion for Class Certification. (Pet.App. 27) The trial court's order contained findings of fact and conclusions of law which included a detailed analysis confirming that Plaintiffs had met the commonality and predominance requirements for class certification:

The facts and evidence, including the CDC reports and deposition transcripts of the named class representatives indicate that common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the class and that these common questions predominate over any questions affecting individual members of the class, including but not limited to: whether Defendant impliedly warranted that its food products and/or water served class members was fit for human consumption; whether Defendant breach its implied warranty of fitness; whether such breach of warranty was a proximate cause of damage as suffered by members of the class; whether Defendant was negligent in the serving of adulterated food products and/or water to members of the class. (Pet.App. 28)

On April 11, 2000, NCL served its Notice of Appeal of said order. After briefs were filed and oral argument was heard, on May 16, 2001, the Third District Court of Appeal filed its per curiam opinion stating:

⁸ The trial court also found the remaining requirements for class certification of numerosity, typicality, adequacy of representation, superiority and manageability were also met. (Pet.App. 28,29)

Norwegian Cruise Lines, Limited, has appealed an order by the trial court, which order grants class certification. The class thus created consists of all paying passengers who consumed water and/or food unfit for human consumption and were thus made ill on the M/S Royal Odyssey during their voyages.

We conclude that the class certification is improper because of insufficient **commonality**. See <u>Ulysses Cruises</u>, Inc. v. <u>Calves</u>, 728 So.2d 363 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). The case is remanded to the Trial Court with instructions to enter its order decertifying the class. Reversed and remanded." SCHWARTZ, C.J. and FLETCHER, J., concur (emphasis supplied) (Pet.App. 24)

Judge Goderich filed a dissenting opinion citing <u>Broin v.</u>

<u>Philip Morris Companies, Inc.</u>,641 So.2d 888 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994),

<u>review denied</u>, 654 So.2d 919 (Fla. 1995). (Pet.App. 24)

On June 8, 2001, Plaintiffs served their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) arguing that the Third District's opinion in this case is in express and direct conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal decision in McFadden v. Staley, 687 So.2d 357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). This Court accepted jurisdiction on January 16, 2002, and this appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Quite simply, the present case involves the exact type of scenario for which class action treatment is appropriate. Courts have held that food poisoning and cruise ship cases present the types of issues, especially relating to liability, for which class actions are best suited.

Plaintiffs seek to certify a class of specifically defined, easily identifiable persons: passengers aboard NCL's cruise ship during three consecutive cruises on the same ship who became sick as a result of one common operative set of facts: NCL's negligence in using contaminated water/food despite warnings from the CDC.

The Class Members' claims are based on the same legal theories of negligence and breach of warranty arising from the same practices and course of conduct of NCL: mainly NCL's negligence in allowing, using and serving adulterated or contaminated water or food on three straight cruises on the same ship despite warnings from the CDC. As in McFadden, these common issues are dispositive of the case.

This case involves three consecutive cruises on the same ship with the same water tanks, pipes and systems. It involves the same crew members. It is alleged, and the record evidence, including CDC reports, confirms, the probability that there was one continuous, identifiable outbreak of gastroenteritis. Each Class Member suffered nearly identical symptoms such as nausea and vomiting.

It is puzzling why the Third District Court reversed class certification in this case based on insufficient commonality. Under either the commonality requirement, or the predominance requirement, the trial court was correct in finding that the

Plaintiffs have met the class action standard for both, with record evidence including the CDC reports. The Third District's opinion not only is in conflict with the Fourth District in McFadden, but also with its own decision in Broin. Those two cases correctly ruled that class certification was proper.

The trial court correctly found that common questions predominate. The claims of the representative parties in this regard arise from the same event and course of conduct that give rise to the claims of the other class members and are based on the same legal theories.

Class action is not only the superior method of litigation in this case, but essentially, the only available method for the class members. There is no realistic alternative to a class action in the present case, as hundreds of passengers throughout the country would be forced to file suit individually for damages.

The pleadings and evidence provided to the trial court prove that Plaintiffs met the requirements for class certification under Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220, McFadden and Broin. There was no abuse of discretion by the trial court. The Third District's decision should be reversed.

STANDARD FOR CLASS ACTIONS AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220 is based on Fed.R.Civ.P. 23. Federal decisions are persuasive authority on the interpretation of Florida's rule. <u>In re Rules of Civil Procedure</u>, 391 So.2d 165, 170 (Fla.1980) (Committee Note to the 1980 amendment to Rule 1.220); <u>Broin v. Philip Morris Companies</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 641 So.2d 888, 889 n.1 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994).

The trial court's decision on class certification in this case must be upheld unless it constituted an abuse of discretion. <u>Jenne v. Solomos</u>, 707 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). An abuse of discretion cannot be found unless no reasonable person could agree with the trial court's ruling. <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

In this case the trial court considered both the allegations of the Complaint and the evidence obtained in discovery pertinent to certification.

The trial court must resolve any doubt in favor of class certification. Neumont v. Monroe County, 198 F.R.D. 554,557 citing In re: Carbon Dioxide Antitrust Litigation, 149 F.R.D. 229, 232 (M.D. Fla. 1993). Class certification is strictly a procedural matter and the merits of the claim are not to be considered when determining the propriety of a class action. Singer v. AT&T Corp., 185 F.R.D. 681, 685 (S.D.Fla. 1998) (citing

Eisen); Hively v. Northlake Foods, Inc., 191 F.R.D. 661, 665-666
(M.D. Fla. 2000).

ARGUMENT

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S MAJORITY OPINION ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT THE COMMONALITY REQUIREMENT WAS NOT MET

Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220(a) provides that a class action may be maintained if the court concludes that:

- (1) The members of the class are so numerous that separate joinder of each member is impracticable;
- (2) The claim or defense of the representative party raises questions of law or fact common to the question of law or fact raised by the claim or defense of each member of the class;
- (3) The claim or defense of the representative party is typical of the claim or defense of each member of the class; and,
- (4) The representative party can fairly and adequately protect and represent the interests of each member of the class.

Once a court finds that the requirements of Rule 1.220(a) have been satisfied, it must then determine whether class action is appropriate under Rule 1.220(b)(1) or (b)(3). Rule 1.220(b) states that the class action may be maintained if the court concludes that the prerequisites of subsection (a) are satisfied and that:

- (1) The prosecution of separate claims or defenses by or against individual members of the class would create a risk of either:
 - A. inconsistent or varying adjudications concerning individual members of the class which would establish incompatible standards of conduct for the party opposing the class; or

- B. adjudications concerning individual members of the class which would, as a practical matter, be dispositive of the interests of other members of the class who are not parties to the adjudications, or substantially impair or impede the ability of other members of the class who are not parties to the adjudications to protect their interests; or ...
- The claim or defense is not maintainable under either (3) subsection (b)(1) or (b)(2), but the questions of law or fact common to the claim or defense of the representative party and the claim or defense of each member of the class **predominate** over any question of law or fact affecting only individual members of the class, and class representation is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy... The conclusions shall be derived from consideration of all relevant and circumstances, including and the... facts difficulties likely to be encountered in the management of the claim or defense on behalf of a class. (emphasis supplied)

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