IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. SC 01-1316 THIRD DCA CASE NO. 3D00-1012 L.T. CASE NO. 98-01648

JUDITH ROSE and CHARLES AULT, on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

NORWEGIAN CRUISE LINES LIMITED, d/b/a NORWEGIAN CRUISE LINES,

Defendant/Respondent.

On Review of a Decision by the Third District Court of Appeal

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT=S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted, MASE & GASSENHEIMER, P.A. CURTIS J. MASE CATHERINE J. MACIVOR Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent 80 S.W. 8th Street, Suite 2700 Miami, Florida 33130 Telephone: (305) 377-3770

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

The trial court should have probed beyond the legal conclusions asserted in the pleadings before concluding that typicality was met. (T 12)(AThey=re claiming they got sick from a virus so the number it=s 700 plus. That meets the requirement@).

Instead, the trial court took the legal conclusions alleged in the amended class action complaint as true and determined that because the Plaintiffs alleged there were 700 plus people affected by a virus, the Plaintiffs= claims were Atypical.@ (T 12). The trial court clearly gave no serious consideration to the typicality requirement and entered the order prepared by the Plaintiffs= counsel which merely regurgitated the language of the rule. This was erroneous. *See Falcon*, 457 U.S. at 158-159 (reversing certification for failure of proof on typicality element, holding that it was error for district court to presume that respondent=s claim was typical of other claims against petitioner). Even if the trial court had probed beyond the pleadings, there is no basis to determine typicality.

D. There is no factual or legal basis to certify the class under subsection (b)(1)

The order granting class certification states that A[t]he Court finds that the pleadings, facts and evidence submitted by the plaintiffs have satisfied the requirements of Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220(a); 1.220(b)(1) and (b)(3).@ (A 4). While the Plaintiffs ultimately confessed error on this issue in their Answer Brief, this Afinding@ underscores the quantum lack of evidence before the trial court which further illustrates the problem in delegating the fact finding to the party drafting the order. (AB fn 8, BM fn 10).

The trial court=s findings as to predominance were insufficient and unsupported by any proffer made by the Plaintiffs and the order is devoid of *any* 38

findings as to superiority and manageability

The trial court also certified the class under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.220(b)(3).⁷ Significantly, the order fails to set forth all of the requirements to maintain an action under subsection (b)(3) of Rule 1.220. Subsection (b)(3) requires that Athe questions of law or fact common to the claim or defense of the representative party and the claim or defense of each class member predominate over any question of law or fact affecting only individual members of the class, and class representation is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.[®] Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220(b)(3). Additionally, the trial court must consider the Adifficulties likely to be encountered in the management of the claim or defense on behalf of the class,[®] among other things. Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220(b)(3)(D).

None of the cases cited by the trial court support certification as to causation and damages, which are the most significant issues. The trial court=s order cited *Hernandez v. Motor Vessel Skyward*, 61 F.R.D. 558 (S.D. Fla. 1973), as support for its decision to grant certification in this case. In *Hernandez* the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida certified the class under Rule 23(b)(1)(A) as to the issue of negligence only. *Hernandez*, 61 F.R.D. at 561. Significantly, the *Hernandez* court conceded that individual issues predominated as to every other aspect of the case:

In the instant case, only one issue is available for class treatment. Whether the defendants were negligent in preparing either the drinking water or food that was available for consumption by the passengers is subject to a uniform determination. A ruling on this issue would be applicable to any prospective claimant. The issues of the proximate cause of each passenger=s illness . . . and damages are individual in nature. The likelihood of individual defenses on these issues is at least recognizable. For example, the symptoms manifested by some of the passengers may be related to seasickness or some other illness unrelated to exposure to contaminated food or water.

Id., at 561. *Hernandez* therefore not only fails to support certification under subsection (b)(3), it is distinguishable because the district judge certified the class under subsection (b)(1)(A) on the ground that the doctrine of collateral estoppel might bind the defendant on issues of liability if any plaintiff were liable to win against it. *Id.* at 561. This concern has since been eliminated by the United States Supreme Court decision in *Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shore*, 439 U.S. 322 (1979); *see also Bentkowski v. Marfuerza Compania, S.A.*, 70 F.R.D. 401, 402 (E.D. Pa. 1976); (which rejected the Hernandez court=s decision to certify under subsection (b)(1)(A) because mass torts are not, as a rule, subject to certification under (b)(1)(A), (b)(1)(B) or (b)(2)). The *Bentkowski* opinion certified as to liability only with no real (b)(3) analysis. *Bentkowski*, 70 F.R.D. at 402 (relying upon *Hernandez*, the class was certified as to liability only with no real (b)(3) analysis).

The trial court also cited *McFadden v. Staley*, 687 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 4th DCA 40

1997) as support for its ruling. However, *McFadden* fails to provide such support. First, McFadden was erroneously predicated upon the Third District=s decision in Broin v. Philip Morris Co., Inc., 641 So. 2d at 890. Broin involved an appeal of an order granting a motion to dismiss where all of the allegations must be taken as true. There is also *no real* discussion of predominance, superiority or manageability in the Fourth District=s opinion. See McFadden, 687 So. 2d at 358-59. Further, unlike the instant case where the CDC reports indicate that the water on the ship and the food met with all public health guidelines, the Public Health Unit in McFadden Aconfirmed Salmonella@ for all patrons of the restaurant. Id. Here, there has been no such direct link between the water and food and the Aviruses@ found on the ship. The Plaintiffs cannot demonstrate that a class action is superior to other methods of adjudication and that a class action would be manageable. Finally, the order cited Kornberg v. Carnival Cruise Lines, 741 F. 2d 1332 (11th Cir. 1984) as additional support for its ruling. In Kornberg v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc., 1986 A.M.C. 854 (S.D. Fla. 1985), on remand after the Eleventh Circuit reversed decertification and directed the court to make a determination as to whether the plaintiffs met rule 23 requirements, Judge King ruled that the action was not superior to other available methods of adjudication. Kornberg, 1986 A.M.C. at 854. Kornberg thus fails to support the order granting class certification. The highly individual inquiry required

in this case, as set forth *supra*, also defeats superiority.

Individual issues predominate. Subdivision (b)(3) parallels subdivision (a)(2)in that both require that common questions exist, but subdivision (b)(3) contains the far more stringent requirement that common issues predominate over individual issues. 1 Newberg, supra, '3.10 at 3-56. As referenced above, the trial court was obligated to look beyond the pleadings to determine whether questions of law or fact predominate over questions affecting only individual members; the trial court refused to do so because the trial court accepted the allegations as true, disallowing any discussion or argument as to the proofs required or elements of the claims or defenses. However, the court must investigate beyond the allegations of the complaint in order to determine if common questions predominate. *Rutstein*, 211 F. 3d at 1233-34. The Rule 23(b)(3) inquiry, upon which rule 1.220(b)(3) is predicated, tests whether proposed classes are sufficiently cohesive to warrant adjudication by class representation. Amchem Products, Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591 (1997). Questions of law or fact are deemed Acommon@ Awhen there exists generalized evidence that proves or disproves the element on a simultaneous, class-wide basis. Such proof obviates the need to examine each class member=s individual position.@ Dahlgren=s Nursery, Inc. v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 1994 U.S. Dist. Lexis 17918 at *27 (S.D. Fla. June 9, 1994), citing In re: Industrial Gas Anti-Trust Litigation, 100 F.R.D.

280, 288 (N.D. Ill. 1983). The Eleventh Circuit recently ruled that:

In order to determine whether common questions predominate, AWe are called upon to examine the cause [] of action asserted in the complaint on behalf of the putative class.@ []. Whether an issue predominates can only be determined after considering what value the resolution of the class-wide issues will have in each class member=s underlying cause of action. []

Rutstein, 211 F. 3d at *1234 (citations omitted). The trial court erroneously failed to conduct this inquiry, despite NCL=s repeated requests, because the Plaintiffs= counsel urged that such inquiry should be Areserved for trial.@ (A T 9-12, 20-21).

The burden was clearly on the Plaintiffs to Atender some credible basis for claiming that the questions susceptible to generalized proof on the class-wide basis – the common questions – predominate over questions subject to only individualized proof.@ *Dahlgren=s Nursery, Inc.*, 1994 U.S. Dist. Lexis 17918 at *29 (citations omitted). If the effect of class certification is to bring in hundreds of possible claimants Awhose presence will in actuality require a multitude of mini-trials (a procedure which will be tremendously time consuming and costly), then the justification for class certification is absent.@ *Dahlgren=s Nursery, Inc.*, 1994 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17918 at *28-29, citing *Alabama v. Blue Bird Body Co.*, 573 F. 2d 309, 328 (5th Cir. 1978). Thus, even if certified as to a particular issue, e.g., was the food or water on the three cruises adulterated as in *Hernandez*, the daunting prospect of hundreds, if not thousands, of mini-trials as to all of the other remaining issues fails

to support a basis for class certification because each class member would nevertheless have to try an individual case.

Here, the Plaintiffs failed to propose any methodology for demonstrating, using generalized proof, that each and every member of the proposed class has sustained an injury. Rutstein, 211 F. 3d at 1233-34. The issue of causation, as well as that of negligence, must be subject to a Aclear cut determination@ with generalized proof before common questions can be found to predominate. Dahlgren=s Nursery, Inc., 1994 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17918 at *34-35, citing Hernandez, 61 F.R.D. at 560. See also Execu-Tech Business Systems, Inc., 743 So. 2d at 20-22 (affirming the trial court=s decision denying class certification because there was no reasonable methodology proffered by the plaintiff using generalized proof of class-wide impact and damages); Rutstein 211 F. 3d at *17-19. Although generalized proof may well be suited for those cases in which the cause of the damages is a single tragic happening, it is not well suited for those cases where, as here, no one set of operative facts establishes liability and no single proximate cause equally applies to each potential class member. Dahlgren=s Nursery, Inc., 1994 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17918 at *35. AGeneralized proof is also inapposite where the damages do not lend themselves to mechanical calculation but instead depend on the facts peculiar to each class member.@ Dahlgren=s Nursery, Inc., 1994 U.S. Dist. Lexis 17918 at *35.

In the instant case, the Plaintiff, Mr. Ault, answered an interrogatory stating that the methodology to be used to demonstrate damages *may* be statistical surveys, on a representative basis, utilizing expert testimony and statistical data. (A160-161). Even if the Plaintiffs had elaborated as to how these cases might be tried using statistics and experts, representative or statistical methods for causation and damages calculations are highly controversial and are often rejected by the federal courts and have been characterized as a Aradical solution@ that deny due process rights to a one-on-one jury trial. *See e.g., In re: Fibreboard Corp.*, 893 F. 2d 706, 710 (5th Cir. 1990).

It is completely unclear what type of Astatistical data@ can Aeasily@ be extrapolated from records that the Plaintiffs= have *never* sought to obtain, i.e., the CDC questionnaires or other CDC documents. Further, it is uncertain that such records will be made Aeasily@ available since they were never requested by the Plaintiffs. *See* 45 C.F.R. '2.1 et seq. It is even more unclear how pain and suffering can be demonstrated on a Arepresentative basis@ utilizing expert testimony and statistical data since the Plaintiffs failed or refused to elaborate on that issue. Contrary to the Plaintiffs= intent to show common damages through statistical analysis, a detailed analysis of whether each class member suffered from viral gastroenteritis is absolutely necessary, including the extent of the illness, and a detailed analysis of the

class member=s medical history, to demonstrate whether *any* member of the class, including the Plaintiffs/Class Representatives, contracted the identical strain of SRSV identified in only 3 of 23 specimens collected by the CDC. (A 185). The order granting class certification referenced the answers to interrogatories to buttress the determination that the class should be certified. Instead, they clearly demonstrate all of the reasons that certification should have been denied. Individual questions will thus predominate as to negligence, proximate cause, damages and comparative negligence thus precluding certification of this class action.

As the court noted in *Mertens v. Abbot Laboratories*, 99 F.R.D. 38, 42 (D.N.H. 1983), A[w]hat has already been said about the individual nature of proof in the context predominance applies with equal force to superiority.@ 99 F.R.D. at 42. *See supra*. In fact, many courts have determined that a superiority analysis cannot be commenced absent some type of proposed structure in which the case will be tried. *In re: Telectronics Pacing Systems, Inc.*, 168 F.R.D. 203, 221 (S.D. Ohio 1996). The Plaintiffs have repeatedly failed to propose any structure whatsoever, claiming that such a proposal was a matter for Atrial.@ Instead, the Plaintiffs have reiterated a series of legal conclusions relating solely to predominance and have completely ignored the superiority requirement of Rule 1.220(b)(3). Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220(b)(3). Since the Plaintiffs failed to meet the strict burden of proof to demonstrate that this

class action is superior to other methods of adjudicating the claim, the trial court should have denied class certification.

The defendants in *Hernandez* and *Bentkowski* never raised the constitutional impropriety of having a trial on liability and separate trials on proximate cause, damages and comparative negligence issues. Hernandez, 61 F.R.D. at 561; Bentkowski, 70 F.R.D. at 406. If this case were certified as to liability only, as in *Hernandez* and *Bentkowski*, *supra*, as a means to handle the highly individual inquiry necessary in this litigation, such plainly would be inconsistent with the Seventh Amendment right to have juriable issues determined by the first jury impaneled to hear them and not re-examined by another finder of fact.¹⁰ See In re: Rhone-Poulenc Rorer, Inc., 51 F. 3d at 1303 (AThis would be obvious if the second finder of fact were a judge@); Castano, 84 F. 3d at 750-51. Issues of negligence, proximate causation, damages and comparative negligence overlap and must therefore be tried by the same jury. Id. (Proximate causation is found by determining whether the harm to the plaintiff followed in some sense naturally, uninterruptedly and with reasonable probability from the negligent act of the defendant and therefore overlaps the issue of

¹⁰ While this issue was not specifically raised below, error amounting to a constitutional violation is fundamental error and therefore the lack of contemporaneous objection to preserve the issue does not prevent appellate review. *Scoggins v. State*, 726 So. 2d 762, *17 (Fla. 1999).

defendant=s negligence). Such a rule is dictated for the very practical reason that if separate juries are allowed to pass on issues involving overlapping legal and factual questions, the verdicts rendered by each jury could be inconsistent. *Castano*, 84 F. 3d at 750-51. Having failed to proffer some evidence that a class action is a superior method to other means of litigation and manageable, the trial court=s certification should never have been entered.

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